DOCUMENT RESUME

ED 085 039 HE 004 939

AUTHOR Zauderer, Donald G.

TITLE Orpan Internships in Higher Education.

INSTITUTION ERIC Clearinghouse on Higher Education, Washington,

D.C.

SPONS AGENCY American Association for Higher Education,

Washington, D.C.

REPORT NO HE-LR-9
PUB DATE 73

NOTE 44p.

AVAILABLE FROM Publication Department, American Association for

Higher Education, One Dupont Circle, Suite 780,

washington, D.C. 20036 (\$2.00)

EDRS PRICE MF-\$0.65 HC-\$3.29

DESCRIPTORS Educational Benefits; *Educational Objectives;

*Higher Education; *Institutional Pole; *Internship

Programs; Role Perception; School Community

Cooperation; School Community Relationship; *Urban

Education

ABSTRACT

This monograph is primarily for faculty members and administrators in colleges and universities, as well as intern directors in noneducational institutions to assist them in formulating judgments about the design and implementation of internship programs. The paper focuses on the objectives of internship programs, role allocation, and issues and problems associated with this form of experimental education. Goals and objectives of internship training are reviewed in relation to the student as primary beneficiary, the university interest in internship programs, and benefits to the host agency. Role allocation concerns, the system of university values and incentives, faculty role, student role, and the host agency. Additional issues discussed included who should participate, where should students intern, compensation practices, and evaluating intern performance. A 40-item bibliography is included. (MJM)

FILMED FROM BEST AVAILABLE COPY

Urban Internships in Higher Education 1973 Donald G. Zauderer US DEPARTMENT DE HEALTH,
EDUCATION & WELFARE
NATIONAL INSTITUTE DE
EDUCATION

THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN REPRO
DUCED EXACTLY AS RECEIVED FROM
THE PERSON OR ORGANIZATION ORIGIN
ATING IT POINTS OF VIEW OR OPINIONS
STATED DO NOT NECESSARILY REPRE
SENT OFFICIAL NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF
EDUCATION POSITION OR POLICY



1974 RESEARCH REPORTS

Probable Topics and Authors

The Characteristics of Students Entering Postsecondary Education/Robert Fenske

The Impact of Title III on Higher Education/Harold Hodgkinson

The Role of Proprietary Education in the Context of Postsecondary Education/
David Trivett

The Status c Educational Opportunity Programs in Higher Education/Edmund
Gordon

Trustees in Higher Education/J. L. Zwingle

Faculty Workloads/Harold Yuker

The Personalized System of Instruction: Alternative to Lecture/Robert S. Ruskin

No Growth: The Effect of No or Limited Growth on Higher Education/Larry Leslie

Major Trends in Higher Education for the Professions/G. Lester Anderson

Time-Shortened Degree Programs/Charles
Meinert

Financing of Higher Education/Jonathan D. Fife

Future of Private Colleges/Carol Shulman

Lifetime Learning: Extending the Availability of Higher Education Beyond College Age/David Trivett



with the to keep up issues in

Subscribe now to the 1974 ERIC-AAHE research reports. See back of this card for a list of the topics that will probably be included.

SUBSCRIPTION FORM

Return this card with check to: Publications Department Please enter my subscription for ten ERIC-AAHE research reports in 1974 (AAHE members \$12, others \$18).

Amer. Assn. for Higher Education One Dupont Circle, Suite 780 Washington, D. C. 20036

Check must accompany order.

Mailing address-

Name

☐ New subscription ☐ Renewal

(payable to AAHE).

I enclose \$.

Urban Internships in Higher Education

Donald G. Zauderer

ERIC/Higher Education Research Report No. 9 1973

Prepared by the ERIC Clearinghouse on Higher Education The George Washington University Washington, D. C.

Published by the American Association for Higher Education One Dupont Circle, Suite 780 Washington, D. C. 20036



Acknowledgements

I should like to acknowledge the help and assistance of several individuals. Vincent and Elinor Ostrom of Indiana University were instrumental in emphasizing the importance of theory in field experience education. Several of my colleagues at The American University have also assisted me in thinking through various pedagogical problems in internship study. Among these are Harold Kellner, Nathaniel Preston, Bernard Ross, Morley Segal, and Richard Smolka. I am also indebted to Martin Jenkins and A. Lee Fritschler for their helpful commentary on an earlier draft of this monograph.

Several individuals consented to an extensive interview. In this regard, I should like to thank Charles Kuhlman, Charles Levine, Thomas Murphy, Dennis Smith, and Stanley Thomas. These discussions constituted important occasions for my own learning.

My graduate assistant, Lynn Ohman, was most helpful in discovering literary sources in the primary stage of this research. Her student colleagues who participated in the internship program in the School of Government and Public Administration also helped me think through a variety of issues in internship training. Their honest and forthright discussion of our internship program continues to provide a basis for improvement and change.

This publication was prepared pursuant to a contract with the National Institute of Education, U. S. Department of Health, Education and Welfare. Contractors undertaking such projects under government sponsorship are encouraged to express freely their judgment in professional and technical matters. Prior to publication, the manuscri': was submitted to the American Association for Higher Education for critical review and determination of professional competence. This publication has meet such standards. Points of view or opinions do not, therefore, necessarily represent official views or opinions of either the American Association for Higher Education or the National Institute of Education.



Foreword

The ERIC Clearinghouse on Higher Education at the George Washington University publishes an ongoing series of monographs on selective issues in higher education. The present monograph by Donald G. Zauderer, College of Public Affairs, The American University, is the second in the series concerned with aspects of the urban involvement of colleges and universities, the first being University-City Relations: From Coexistence to Cooperation by Bernard H. Ross. This present monograph is primarily for faculty members and administrators in colleges and universities, as well as intern directors in noneducational institutions, to assist them in formulating judgments about the design and implementation of internship programs. The paper focuses on the objectives of internship programs and provides discussion on a variety of issues and problems associated with this form of experiential education. As in other ERIC essays, the primary data are derived chiefly from a search of the literature, which is supplemented, in this instance, by interviews with specialists in the field.

This monograph is especially significant, since institutions of higher education everywhere are exploring new ways to meet contemporary needs. Urban internships are an aspect of "nontraditional" education, a facet of urban-related education, and an example of how to add the ingredient of relevance that many students are seeking in their educational experiences. It may be predicted with considerable confidence that the rapidly expanding urban internship programs will become an integral part of the educational programs at most colleges and universities. Consequently, the ideas expressed in this monograph should be of considerable value to institutions that wish to structure programs in a way that will best serve urban agencies and be of maximum educational value to the participating students.

Martin D. Jenkins Director, Office of Urban Affairs American Council on Education



Already Published in the Series

- 1. Women's Studies: Courses and Programs for Higher Education Lora H. Robinson
- 2. Productivity: Burden of Success William Toombs
- 3. University-City Relations: From Coexistence to Cooperation Bernard H. Ross
- 4. The Integration of Learning and Earning: Cooperative Education and Nontraditional Study

 K. Patricia Cross
- 5. Comparative Higher Education *Philip G. Altbach*
- 6. Goals for Higher Education: Definitions and Directions David A. Trivett
- 7. Student Discipline Systems in Higher Education Stanford Cazier
- 8. Employment of Nontenured Faculty: Some Implications of Roth and Sinderman

 Carol Herrnstadt Shulman

To subscribe to the complete series of reports (10 issues), write to the Publications Department, American Association for Higher Education, One Dupont Circle. Suite 780, Washington, D. C. 20036. The subscription rate for AAHE members is \$12; for nonmembers \$18. Single issues are available at \$2 per copy.



Contents

Overview |

Guals and Objectives of Internship Training 5

The Student as Primary Beneficiary 5

The University Interest in Internship Programs 9

Benefits to the Host Agency 11

Role Allocation 13

The System of University Values and Incentives 13

Faculty Role 15

Student Role 23

The Host Agency 23

Further Issues in Internship Training $\,27\,$

Who Should Participate? 27

Where Should Students Intern? 27

Compensation Practices 28

Evaluating Intern Performance 31

Conclusions 33

Bibliography 34



Overview

Institutions of higher learning are being called upon to reexamine their roles and to develop programs that prepare students to make significant contributions in an increasingly complex world. It is incumbent upon universities to provide learning experiences that result in the development of problemsolving skills. Many institutions have approached this challenge by designing new programs based upon a more explicit application of theory to real-world problems. Given the changing nature of university training, educators have been searching for new mechanisms to give students direct exposure to social problems. One approach is to involve students in internship learning.

Internships long have been an integral part of medical training, as they provide young doctors with an opportunity to apply their theoretical knowledge to real-vorld situations. There is perhaps no better way to learn than to apply theory to a problem and subsequently examine consequences. The accumulation of these experiences is a requisite condition for professional growth. Educators in the social and natural sciences and in the arts also have begun to see the value of internships in the training of students. The living environment constitutes a rich data source, and internships provide one means of extracting knowledge from first-hand experience.

There has been a major growth in internships, and it is now commonplace to find students in city, county, state and federal bureaucracies, community and volunteer organizations, city councils, and in a variety of organizations in the private sector. Universities located in or near urban areas are in a particularly favorable position to structure internship programs into the curriculum. Location, however, is not a major impediment as academic institutions in smaller communities increasingly provide opportunities for off-campus experiential education. Many schools are encouraging students to spend periods of time away from campus to pursue different forms of learning, such as internships, independent study, and community service. These programs serve to supplement regular course offerings and enrich the overall academic program by expanding the learning resources available to faculty and students.

A university-based internship is defined as a temporary period of supervised work that provides opportunities to develop skills, to test



abilities and career interests, and to systematically examine institutional cultures in light of the central theoretical notions in a chosen academic field of study. The process of relating theory to experience is a powerful pedagogical event, and it is incumbent upon universities to structure an academic program that facilitates a systematic integration of the central ideas in a discipline with the events that one observes and experiences during the internship period.

While the number of internship programs has grown steadily in the last decade, until recently there has not been a mechanism for intern directors to collectively identify problems and share perspectives on alternative approaches to internship training. Alexis de Tocqueville has commented on the propensity of Americans to cluster around common purposes and to develop mechanisms to advance common ends (de Tocqueville 1840 (Book II), p. 114). Such organizations have now been established to advance the art of internship training. In November 1972, the Society for Field Experience Education was founded at Hofstra University. This group meets yearly to explore problems in internship training and other forms of field experience education. At about the same time, the National Center for Public Service Internships was established to assist the universities and public organizations in the advancement of internship programs. The function of the Center is to promote the establishment and acceptance of internships, to disseminate information in the Public Service Internship News; to carry out research and offer technical assistance, to represent interests in Washington, and to promote new revenues for the support of internship programs (National Center for Public Service Internship Programs 1972).

Another manifestation of the developing interest in field experience education is the recent appearance of two books, one edited by Thomas P. Murphy entitled Government Management Internships and Executive Development (1973), and another edited by Philip C. Ritterbush entitled Let the Entire Community Become Our University (1973). These books are important source documents on internships and field experience education generally.

While internships have provided a new dimension to the college curriculum, they have also generated a new set of problems and issues. The central purpose of this monograph is to discuss a variety of problems in university-based urban internships and to delineate some alternative approaches in the structure and design of programs. While the central focus of application is urban bureaucracy, the basic issues and principles can be applied to internships at any level of government and in the private sector. By focusing on problematic

conditions, it is hoped that this monograph will serve as a useful point of departure for those who are involved in developing such programs.

The second chapter of this monograph focuses on the goals and objectives of internship programs by delineating the potential benefits that can accrue to students, the university, and host agencies. This discussion constitutes an academic rationale for maintaining internship programs in the college curriculum. A description of objectives is important because it provides guidelines for the design of programs. If internships are to be effective pedagogical instruments, they must be constructed so as to achieve specific objectives.

Chapter three examines the optimal allocation of responsibility among the various actors involved in internship training. Internships can be conceptualized as an educational delivery system. The quality of delivery greatly depends on the extent to which various actors effectively carry out, responsibilities. The question is, What should be the role of university administrators, faculty supervisors, students, host agency administration and host agency supervisors? An abdication of responsibility among any of these actors can have detrimental effects on the quality of education.

Chapter four considers a variety of issues that need exploration when internship programs are developed. For example, what criteria should be utilized in the selection of interns? Should only a select few participate in this form of experiential learning, or should the criteria be such that a broader range of students can participate? Another issue of cor iderable importance bears upon the type of placement that offers the prospect of generating the highest educational dividends. Will the quality of the learning be higher in a large and specialized agency; or, conversely, will smaller, less professionalized agencies provide better opportunities to gain valuable experience? What are the tradeoffs involved in these choices?

Another important issue in the design of internship programs is whether students should be compensated for their work. This question is often hotly debated in university communities, and there are some important implications attached to these alternatives. For example, policy on compensation can have exclusionary consequences; that is, some students may not be able to participate without payment. Similarly, some agencies might be excluded if payment were a mandatory feature of the program. A discussion of the bipader implications of the alternatives should assist intern directors in thinking through the problem. Another somewhat perplexing issue deals with the form of grading. Should letter grades be given for internship credit,



or is pass-fail more appropriate? The grading mode can influence student motivation, but there are also many other important factors which should be considered in structuring grading practices.

While there is no one best way to run an internship, it is the purpose of this monograph to assist individuals in formulating judgments about the construction of internship programs and to provide an initial base of ideas in the development of an educational strategy for internship study.

Goals and Objectives of Internship Training

Who gains what benefits from interships? A delineation of potential benefits to the central actors (students, university faculty and administrators, and host agencies) can serve to increase the level and quality of participation. Learning goals can be more easily achieved when individuals are aware of the benefits that can accrue as a result of vigorous participation by all actors in this systemic network.

The Student as Primary Beneficiary

Academic Benefits-An individual's ultimate utility to society is based on the capacity to collect data from a variety of sources (including personal experience), order the data around concepts and ideas, and develop the requisite understanding for problemsolving. The authoritarian system associated with traditional university courses places the student in a tight dependency relationship with the professor. Authoritarian-dependency relationships may not foster independent thinking or the capacity to examine experience and interpret learning. This is not to suggest that traditional learning is unproductive, since it is important that students grasp the central theoretical and substantive components in a body of knowledge. However, internships provide an opportunity for the discriminative use of this information within a real-world context. When the individual is cut away from dependency on the professor, he becomes responsible for organizing his own activity and for developing a personal learning strategy. The student is induced to construct learning goals as well as the instrumental strategies for the achievement of these objectives. Suddenly the highly structured arrangement for learning (books, teachers, library reserve, syllabi) is absent, and the student needs to construct learning strategies around the resources of the new working environment. The intern is thrust into a new game, in which personal and intellectual attributes must be combined in the successful execution of work tasks.

The faculty advisor can assist the student in constructing a paradigm for examining his experience. Student interns are bombarded with data, and the ordered and systematic examination of experience will lead to the internalization of knowledge. The student will then have learned from experience, and be able to utilize the knowledge in subsequent years. Internships provide students with the opportunity to



think systematically about personal experience. The absence of this capability may lead to a life characterized by confusion and error.

Internships also provide opportunities to apply theoretical notions to real-world concerns. A university-based internship program is based on the belief that there are certain forms of knowledge that can best be acquired away from campus. According to Robert Sigmon:

Risks are involved for universities that sponsor and sanction intern-type programs. We risk an awareness that universities do not, after all, have a monopoly on all knowledge and learning opportunities. We risk redefining teaching as the providing of learning environments rather than dispensing of knowledge about the past [emphasis mine] (Sigmon 1972b).

Meyer and Petry have also emphasized the importance of providing new learning environments. They assert that "without the meat of experience to interact with and fill out the skeleton of theory, there is no body of understanding" (Meyer and Petry 1972, p. 21). Hennessy states that:

Internships work because they personalize data. They work because they give to political life and events a reality that makes them part of the intern's own being. They give to facts some of the warmth and color of the human condition . . . (Hennessy 1970, p. 103).

Thus, an internship can "bring theory to life" by engaging students in experiences that have been the subject of scholarly inquiry. An intern studying under me, who is majoring in Organization Theory, commented:

Before this experience I was unclear as to the potential utility of ideas learned in the classroom. Working has provided an opportunity to test some of these ideas, and I now have a much clearer perspective on what is really important in keeping an organization healthy and alive.

Internships also expose students to knowledge available only in nonacademic settings. Many important research questions have escaped the professional literature, yet are basic to the research interests of practitioners. Thus, interns often acquire important information that is not available in traditional academic sources (Sigmon 1972a, p. 11).

An important goal of education is to expose students to the multidisciplinary aspects of social problems. A student intern in a local housing authority will soon gain some understanding of how law,



economics, political science, sociology, psychology, anthropology, and engineering relate to housing problems. This exposure may also sensitize students to the need to build a cross-disciplinary emphasis into their academic program. An internship, then, may increase the student's capacity to make informed choices on his own university education.

Internships may also open up research opportunities, since interns frequently develop a high measure of rapport with agency staff, and utilize these contacts and information resources in subsequent research efforts. Donald H. Haider cites this as one of the most important benefits of the American Political Science Association's State and Local Government Internships at Columbia University. According to Haider, a number of dissertations developed from the internship experience (Haider 1972). In this way a student can utilize the internship as a resource base in subsequent academic work.

Personal Growth and Development—Personal growth has always been a by-product of university education. Universities have provided counseling and psychological services, and a variety of extra-curricular activities that are important elements to campus life. Internships provide an additional means by which students can grow and mature.

James S. Coleman, in an article dealing primarily with secondary education, stresses the importance of preparing students to become effective members of society. He contends that all students need training in basic skills. Among these are skills of some occupation, skills in making decisions in complex situations where consequences follow from decisions, physical and mechanical skills, bureaucratic and organizational skills (how to cope with a bureaucratic organization, whether as an employee or a customer or a client, or as a manager or entrepreneur), emergency skills, and written and verbal communication skills in argumentation and debate (Coleman, in Ritterbush 1973, p. 187). This partial list of skills presumes that one of the major purposes of education is to assist individuals to develop as effective participants in society. While Coleman's discussion relates specifically to secondary education, his ideas apply equally to higher education. Some individuals with a high level of training in intellectual skills may still not possess the requisite characteristics to make significant contributions in an organization. In most noneducational institutions, success depends upon the quality of cooperative effort. Performance criteria are far broader than writing a research paper, a midterm, and a final examination; and one's productivity may hinge upon an ability to communicate and work constructively with others.



The internship can provide an opportunity to test the adequacy of human relations skills and to construct an agenda for personal resource development.

John Duley has emphasized the significance of "value clarification" in one's education (Duley 1973, pp. 4-5). Many students experience years of confusion and uncertainty in forming the basic values that will guide their lives and commitments. This uncertainty often leads to apathy, confusion, random career choices, and a limited commitment to education. If one is unsure of values and goals, then it may seem unreal to exert effort in academic study (Humphrey 1973). Both the student and the university suffer under such circumstances. The internship provides an opportunity to examine the rewards and liabilities of a particular work culture and to clarify essential values and commitments. The explicit examination of these questions can increase the student's capacity for judgment relative to future training and career choices. This is not to suggest that internships are designed for confused and apathetic students. If such were the case, organizations would soon refuse to participate in these programs. Rather, it does suggest that value clarification is a preoccupation of most students, and internships provide an excellent mechanism to examine these questions. One of the most important events in one's life is to acquire and reject values and develop instrumental strategies to construct a life style based upon this learning.

Students are often insecure about their ability to make productive societal contributions. The isolation of educational institutions often leaves students with an uncertain feeling about their capacity to function effectively in the larger community (Newman 1971, p. 4). As a result, they often lack self-esteem, pride, and confidence in their adequacy as human beings (Davis 1971, p. 141). Interns, however, frequently emerge from their experience with a renewed sense of importance and develop confidence in their ability to participate effectively in the larger community.

Internships and Career Development—Another result of campus isolation is that students frequently make unsound career choices. The Newman Commission reported that "in many areas, students undertake years of graduate training in a particular field only to find that they aren't sure why they've done it, or if it really is what they want for a career" (Newman 1971, p. 5). This may result in dropping out, completing the degree but seeking work in another field, or working with only a marginal commitment to the field. This outcome is terribly inefficient from an individual and societal point of view.



Internships provide an opportunity to examine the degree to which interests and skills are compatible with particular occupations. According to James R. Davis, they "provide the opportunity to explore experimental life styles without making a lasting commitment" (Davis 1971, p. 145). The process of testing career decisions becomes far more costly in the post-college years, especially if the market is in disequilibrium and the labor supply far exceeds the pool of available jobs. Thus, internships provide a convenient vehicle for students to develop occupational preferences.

In addition to helping students formulate judgments about career choices, internships often serve to launch careers. Academic directors are proud of the fact that some students receive job offers as a direct result of the internship experience. Host agencies regularly hire some of their interns or recommend them to other agencies. If neither of these events occur, the intern might still be able to secure a good recommendation for his own employment search. In essence, internships can give students a competitive edge in a marketplace that values experience. Also, internships provide a personnel director with a broader data base in assessing qualifications. In this regard, personnel directors are relying far less on the mere possession of credentials and are attempting to structure a proper "fit" between job c'aracteristics and individual ability, aspirations, personality, and work habits.

The University Interest in Internship Programs

The primary function of the university is to provide quality education. To the extent that internships generate educational benefits for students, the university interest in such programs is served. However, there are also other distinct benefits that accrue to the university.

As Martin Kramer (1972, p. 9) has ably pointed out, many students are turned off by the narrow professional assumptions of traditional course offerings. This can be manifested by a "pervasive negativism" that influences the emotional tone of the campus. It may reduce student commitment to learning tasks. As a result, faculty may experience considerable frustration in teaching an unwilling and passive client.

Obviously, an internship program alone can change the climate of a particular campus. It can, however, be one dimension of a multiple strategy to rekindle student enthusiasm for the learning process.

Internships can assist students in constructing an agenda for learning. When career goals are clarified, one is more likely to choose



courses discriminately. Professors benefit because students know "why they are in the course." Furthermore, Thomas Murphy has reasoned that internships may assist students in developing a "more sophisticated perspective from which to evaluate the words of professors" (Murphy 1973, p. 8). Professors thrive on challenging classroom commentary, for teaching then becomes an occasion for their own learning. The rewards for teachers increase when students approach learning in a positive manner.

While learning can become more meaningful after an internship experience, it also can serve to exacerbate a student's frustration relative to the course offerings on campus. If students identify learning needs that the university cannot provide, they may communicate this to the faculty and administration. This can provide an occasion for the university to receive feedback on the relevance of its curriculum to contemporary needs. It might induce faculty to reexamine course offerings. There are forces within all institutions that act against change, so that vehicles need to be established to identify problems and evaluate performance in light of changing circumstances. Internship programs constitute one mechanism for generating feedback bearing upon the appropriateness of the curriculum for the contemporary needs of business and government (Tyler 1971, p. 23; Murphy 1973, p. 7).

Internships can also serve as a community relations vehicle. Students are engaged in community affairs and establishing relationships with broad segments of the population. Community support can be manifested in fund raising, student recruitment, research support, and technical assistance. According to Thomas Murphy, "interns frequently provide important linkages between previously isolated interests (Murphy 1973, p. 4). There is much to gain if working relationships can be established in the larger community.

The utilization of the work environment as a laboratory for study also amounts to the "expansion of learning resources and physical plant usage, often without increased costs" (Sigmon 1972a, p. 12). It enables the university to offer a broader range of programs at only a fraction of the cost associated with learning activities centered on campus. The marginal cost of these programs is not high and they serve to open up diverse learning opportunities for students. High school students are becoming more and more discriminating in their choice of schools, and the availability of these programs can also assist in recruitment efforts.



Benefits to the Host Agency

Community organizations have an obvious stake in internship programs. In many cases, the presence of an intern enables an agency to undertake projects that it could not have done otherwise. This would especially be the case for organizations with a limited fiscal base. Albemarle County, Virginia, for example, instituted a summer internship program in 1967. Interns have carried out many critical projects, and a cost-benefit study indicates that "for every one dollar spent, the county has received three dollars' worth of service" (National Association of County Officials 1973, p. 4). The total expenditure in salaries over a five-year period was \$17,911.91, and the estimated productivity in one office alone (county planners) was valued at \$30,000. Interns can provide valuable services to an organization, and at only a fraction of the cost of staffing with additional permanent employees.

Similarly, an internship can be an excellent recruitment mechanism. It provides an opportunity for a first-hand evaluation of capabilities, and consequently personnel choices can be made at lower risk. Furthermore, the transition costs of hiring interns is lower. The individual is well acquainted with the organization and can more readily contribute to the on-going efforts of an office. On a more general level, government internships help in attracting qualified individuals to fill the growing number of jobs in the public sector. An evaluation study of the Urban Corps summer internship program in New York determined that one-fifth of the students were more likely to work for the Government because of their internship experience (Nash and Nixon 1967, p. 3.32). Consequently, internship programs, whether spon ored by the university or government agencies, increase the pool of individuals interested in government work.

The existence of interns in an organization can also invigorate the permanent staff. Students are often enthusiastic, and pursue work tasks with high motivation. They bring new ideas and attitudes that can improve the work climate in an organization. It gives permanent staff an opportunity to share the skills and perceptions they have developed from years of experience. Most agency staff receive personal rewards by taking part in the professional development of a student. Similarly, interns may contribute to the learning of the staff, as they might bring an infusion of new ideas into the organization or question practices that exist merely because of tradition (Murphy 1973, p. 7). In addition, the presence of college interns keeps the organization apprised of changes in the aspirations and



skills of college students. This awareness could assist agency administrations in restructuring policies that increase job satisfaction and productivity (Buckle 1973, p. 86).

If interns are carefully managed they can make significant contributions. David Kiel, in his evaluation of North Carolina internships, found that 61 percent of agency respondents strongly agreed that "the intern performed a valuable service for the agency. Six percent strongly disagreed with this statement. Ninety percent of the respondents strongly agreed with the statement that read, 'I am convinced that students can be a valuable resource in helping my agency to achieve its goals.' No respondents strongly disagreed with the statement" (Kiel 1972, p. 40). In an evaluation of the Urban Corps program in New York City, 85 percent of agency respondents rated interns as either very good or good (Nash 1967, pp. 3.21-3.22). Some interns earn the complete confidence of agency staff and are accepted as a member of the professional team. The frequency and degree of student contributions depends upon the skills of both the intern and agency personnel. Most academic directors are proud to recount cases in which their students were given important responsibility after a short time on the job.

Role Allocation

The quality of learning in internships depends upon the commitment and skills of the critical acrors in this network of relationships. The university administration, faculty, students, and the staff and administration of the host agencies—all have important responsibilities. The learning system can easily break down if one or more of these actors neglects to execute important tasks. While internships can be a rich and fruitful enterprise, there are factors that can reduce the value of the experience. The following questions might be utilized as a partial means of identifying elements of imperfection in this network of relationships:

- 1. Is there communication flow between the raculty, the students, and the host agency?
- 2. Are students dissatisfied with the internship program? Do they sense a lack of commitment on the part of the university or the host organization?
- 3. Does a program of learning exist at the university to supplement and enrich the practical work experience of the student? Is the program designed to guide student thought regarding the application of theory to the analysis of their experience?
- 4. Is it common practice for the host agency to exploit students by giving them unchallenging tasks commonly referred to as "busy work"?
- 5. Is it difficult to recruit faculty for the internship program? Is there a high level of turnover among faculty members in the program? Does program responsibility tend to be shifted to uninterested junior members who reluctantly participate?

These questions can serve as behavioral indicators of problems in the learning system. This section will examine some causes of performance breakdown and develop some ideas bearing upon potential solutions. There is no one best way to construct an internship program, but these ideas can serve as a point of departure in exploring problems and alternative approaches to internship training.

The System of University Values and Incentives

Why is it that in some universities faculty commitment to internship education is marginal at best? There are a variety of explanations. Some faculty members and administrators do not believe in the pur-



poses of internship training. According to Lawrence Goldman, "some faculty have argued that the undergraduate years should be a period of reflection and substantial disengagement from the pressures and constraints of a complex society" (Goldman 1970). Others contend that the university should be intimately involved in the central challenges facing society.

These value conflicts may become manifest in a variety of ways. If the isolationist position is central to the culture of the university and its member departments, it is likely that the level of financial support for internship education will be low. One might find no individual with substantial responsibility over the program, and faculty might be expected to carry this responsibility over and above regular teaching duties. In addition to minimal support (reduction in regular teaching load, travel funds, remuneration for expenses incurred in visits to host agencies, space, and secretarial support), the faculty member might experience an atmosphere of hostility or complete indifference to the work that he is attempting to achieve (Davis 1971, p. 143) (Murphy 1973, p. 35). Thus, the faculty member is operating in a negative psychological climate, with the program treated as a "step-child without the prestige of traditional research-oriented learning" (Sexton, in Ritterbush 1973, p. 172).

Under these circumstances, it is also probable that the prevailing value system will be manifest in decisions on salary, promotion, and tenure. If faculty perceive their efforts will not be rewarded, they will begin to invest time and energy in other directions. In essence, a structure of disincentives may exist that will have profound behavioral consequences. The internship may be placed lowest on the faculty members' list of priorities-a priority system based on calculations of personal gain and recognition with respect to the productivity measures used in the university. There are, of course, those who may challenge the system of values and call for new measures of faculty productivity. However, this form of advocacy can be risky, and it is unlikely that a quality program could be sustained over time without a more positive system of incentives for intern directors. Given the nature of the employment market in academia and lower enrollments, there is a declining propensity for risk-taking among untenured faculty.

Thus, if a miversity is come titled to field experience education, the problem of structuring in actives becomes closely related to the development of quality programs (Kiel 1972, p. 48; Hedlund 1973, p. 22; Dawson, in Kanawies 1971, p. 49).



One of the questions that inevitably gets raised is whether an offcampus learning office should be established. If there is considerable hostility or indifference to off-campus learning in the individual departments, a campus-wide office could be established to provide these opportunities (Murphy 1973, interview). On the other hand, there are potential costs to this alternative. As the size of the program increases, it becomes difficult to maintain the personalism possible in a departmentally sponsored program. Procedures and relationships become institutionalized and the quality of service can easily decline. This problem can be hedged, however, if the director is an able and sensitive administrator and the university resources keep pace with constituency growth. The administrative framework for the provision of internship learning depends, then, on the particular circumstances in each university. Regardless of the administrative structure, however, faculty should be encouraged to sustain a continued involvement and interest in internship training. Experience and contacts are particularly important in this type of program. A high level of turnover means that no individual is in the position of accumulating experience (organizational contacts, testing alternative seminar approaches, reading materials, etc.) essential to the development and maintenance of a quality program.

Faculty Role

While the university's failure to manipulate incentives is one factor associated with suboptimal faculty performance, there are others to consider. The Newman Commission has observed that "colleges are staffed more and more by recent young graduates who have largely gone from kindergarten straight through to their first major jobs entirely with the framework of the educational system" (Report on Higher Education 1971, p. 5). Many faculty lack experience in non-educational institutions and have never been exposed to the theory and methods of field experience education. The absence of these experiences constitutes a handicap that can reduce effectiveness, at least in the short run. A problem clearly exists if the following behavior is manifested:

- 1. The faculty member may not invest heavily in the development of a quality internship program. He might even consider it a form of course reduction, and invest far fewer hours than would be the case if it were a traditional course.
- 2. The faculty member might not develop a clear academic rationale for the internship experience. There might even be a complete almence of an academic study program in conjunction with the work

experience. Under these circumstances, the internship provides work experiences and nothing more.

- 3. The faculty member might develop an "academic component [which] dwells on issues derived from readings and theories only slightly connected with the on-going experience of the intern, or at the other extreme, it can be so technical and specific that it deprives the intern of any chance to reflect on broader issues" (Kiel 1972, p. 35).
- 4. The faculty member may have very little interest in constructing an explicit role or set of responsibilities which define relationships with students and host agencies. A quality internship program hinges upon the skill and performance of the faculty member in executing important tasks.

The lack of skill, experience, and commitment among academic directors can have a highly detrimental effect on the quality of programs.

Before discussing particular roles and functions of a faculty supervisor, it might be useful to delineate the kinds of academic and non-academic experiences that would enhance one's capacity to direct intern programs. The following constitutes an idealized set of criteria that might offer guidance in the selection of faculty. While few intern directors will possess all the requisite attributes, it is better to approximate specific recruitment goals than to select without any set of criteria. Alternatively, some faculty may be interested in this form of experiential education but not possess certain experiences and attributes. In such cases, these ideas might constitute an agenda for personal resource development.

It is useful to have experience in field experience education—either as student or academic director. Field experience education encompasses many complexities that are not present in the traditional classroom setting. Experience in this form of learning provides a sounder basis to anticipate problems and design learning activities. It is also helpful if the faculty supervisor has working experience in non-educational institutions. Exposure to other institutions can assist one in structuring an academic program compatible with the work culture that the student encounters. The problem of relevancy applies here: If the student senses that classroom activities do not relate to internship experiences, there would be little incentive to participate vigorously in seminars. This condition can lead to considerable frustration for students and the faculty supervisor.

The academic training of a faculty member is also an important consideration. It is most useful if one's training centers on theoretical



and substantive concerns of interest to both the academic and practitioner communities. This would enable the academic supervisor to construct a learning program to capture the interest of students; that is, students would perceive that their personal effectiveness would be enhanced by virtue of their involvement in the academic component of the internship program.

It is also important that the academic supervisor be interpersonally competent. Such individuals function as university representatives to the community. Their skill in establishing relationships with host agencies can enhance or detract from the reputation of the university.

Lastly, Hennessy has emphasized the importance of being able to guide students in the skills of participant observation (1970, p. 117). The systematic observation of empirical events is a central task in all forms of field experience education. Indeed the quality of the program hinges upon the discriminative analysis of experience and observation.

Counseling Function—Of all the specific tasks or functions of the academic supervisor, none is perhaps more important than counseling. The student first needs to develop work preferences based upon a personal inventory of skills and interests. The faculty supervisor should assist students in examining alternative possibilities in light of explicit criteria. Among these are: (1) requisite skills; (2) career interests and objectives; (3) compatibility of personality with the psychological climate of the agency; (4) character of work tasks; (5) degree of potential involvement in various aspects of agency life; and (6) potential acquisition of important knowledge and skills. In essence, the task is to increase the student's capacity for judgment. Failure to execute this task may lead to a student-agency mismatch.

Once the work begins, the faculty supervisor should be available to discuss programs with the interns. The student should be encouraged to examine the problem and develop strategies for solving it. Dealing with the complexities of organizational life is an important aspect of learning in internships and the faculty supervisor should intervene only when serious problems exist and when student actions have failed to achieve the desired objective.

The faculty supervisor should also perform academic counseling. Students will become engaged in a rich set of experiences and will need assistance in developing a conceptual apparatus for the systematic examination of these events. The systematic analysis of one's experience will help preserve important information for future reference. There are few characteristics more important than the capacity to learn from experience and apply these ideas in subsequent events.



Preserving Academic Goals—Faculty supervisors need to adopt a specific posture in structuring relationships with students. It is important to develop a high level of rapport with interns and also sustain firm accountability practices. Interns have a propensity to go "native" (develop strong attachments to the host agency) and to temporarily lose interest in the academic component of the internship (Hennessy 1970, p. 30). They become catight up in the "action," and acquire a new sense of importance by adopting professional roles. Some will consider academic requirements as an impingement on their independence and status. While this ment I frame is understandable, it can severely hinder the faculty supervisor in executing an academic program. Many faculty supervisors consider this a major problem, and it constitutes perhaps the most frustrating aspect of the job. Inducing students to think systematically about their experience is a formidable pedagogical task. The excessive use of authoritarian models and a structured hierarchical relationship (coercion, imposed goals, and threat systems) can lead to a breakdown in rapport with students.

One approach to structuring accountability is the development of contracts that specify learning objectives, responsibilities, and standards of performance (Sigmon 1972a, Appendix C; Meyer and Petry 1972, p. 13). Contracts can improve the quality of learning but the faculty supervisor may need to enforce the legitimacy of the contract and exact penalties for contractual noncompliance. There are times when the student may request a modification in the contract. Given the nature of the work experience, he request may be completely justified. Such modifications, however, should be based upon mutual consent between the faculty supervisor and the student. If a formal contract is not used, the faculty supervisor will probably need to devise some other strategy to encourage compliance with academic objectives.

Given this background, it is useful to move from a general examination of issues to a description of a prototype graduate internship program in the School of Government and Public Administration at The American University. Such a description serves to indicate the spectrum of responsibilities facing intern directors and is a singular example of how these abstract principles are translated into practice.

Placement Process—The principles outlined in the previous discussion on counseling are operationalized in The American University program. The initial counseling session focuses on criteria for internship selection, and a number of specific internship possibilities



are discussed. Students are encouraged to visit a number of offices and to evaluate alternative possibilities in light of particular criteria. They should ask a number of questions of agency personnel and withhold a commitment until they are certain of the agency's intention to provide good supervision and place them on significant projects. Thus, an important responsibility falls on the student in the initial stage of the program. While this inevitably leads to a period of uncertainty and confusion, it induces students to examine possibilities and form a decision based upon the best available information. One of the goals of experiential education is to develop decisionmaking skills. If faculty take on the burden of making these decisions, the student is deprived of an opportunity to exercise judgment and evaluate the consequences. This, of course, does not preclude faculty intervention if there is good reason to question the advisability of a particular internship.

The initial counseling session also constitutes an occasion to set the general tone for the program. Performance expectations are specified, especially with respect to the academic component of the internship. This counseling session takes place at least six weeks before the internship semester begins. Thus, while there is no formal contract, an informal "good faith" agreement is made bearing upon the student's general approach to the program. The provisions of this informal contract are reinforced in a comprehensive orientation session that takes place approximately two weeks before the actual work begins. A discussion of the orientation session will point up the range of faculty responsibilities and the specific character of the academic program.

Program Design—The major purpose of the orientation session is to discuss the rules of the game and to delineate the framework for learning. Students take two courses (six hours credit) and are expected to work at least 300 hours per semester. Letter grades are used for the academic work in the university-based seminar, while pass-fail grading is used for the experience-based internship. The academic requirements are:

- 1. A weekly one-page integration paper, in which theoretical ideas treated in the reading are related to the behavioral dynamics in the internship.
- 2. A twenty-page paper to be handed in at the conclusion of the internship. This paper is an organizational analysis focusing on such phenomena as organization tone, goal setting, communications processes, problem solving, agency evaluation, leadership style, au-



thority structure, incentive structure, conflict solving processes, and relationships with the external environment. The introduction to the paper is to be theoretical in the sense of providing a framework for examining dynamics of organizational behavior. Once the theoretical infrastructure is developed (based largely on literature in organization theory), they are to write a case study based upon their experience in the host agency.

- 3. A five to ten-page "personal growth" paper that deals with all forms of learning other than their knowledge of organizational dynamics. Among these are writing and research skills, substantive knowledge, human relations skills, personal effectiveness skills, value clarification, clarification of career interests, and a better understanding of personal strengths and weaknesses.
- 4. Participation in the intern seminar. Interns function as participant observers and present data to student colleagues in regularly scheduled seminars.

The discussion sessions provide an additional mechanism for the application of theory to the students' work environment. This provides an opportunity for students to contribute to each other's education by sharing perspectives based upon their experiences. This seminar is not an informal discussion of anecdotes but is a "work session" where organization theory is systematically related to behavioral dynamics at the host agencies. Thus, the quality of the seminars is largely dependent upon the energy and commitment of the group to the learning task. The students have the explicit role of contributing to each other's education and maintaining the integrity of the learning process in the group. The question posed to students is as follows: Can interns engage in diverse work settings, think analytically about the experiences, and sustain discussion that results in important learning?

The primary purpose of the seminars is to increase the capacity of students to analyze the factors that contribute to or inhibit organizational effectiveness. Students are presented with a list cf-questions and readings, and each seminar focuses on one or two aspects of the organization. The seminars focus on organization tone, goals and functions, internal systems, external systems, communication patterns, conflict-solving processes, problemsolving processes, incentive systems, and evaluation. The students collect data by interviewing staff, by the analysis of personal interactions, and by systematic observation of events in the form of staff or interorganizational meetings.



The internship seminars are structured so that students function in leadership roles. The design and execution of a successful meeting is a challenging task. As students soon learn, many meetings in business and government fail to meet objectives. Similarly, many seminars on the university campus are not productive enterprises. Since students are training to be public administrators, they need to focus on the requisite skills to be contributing members of a group both as leaders and as regular participants. Students are given primary roles in conducting meetings. The student acting as group leader is responsible for reviewing the learning goals, determining the range of data that students possess for the week, arranging the order in which issues will be explored, and guiding the discussion in an efficient manner. A second student is given the task main enance function; that is, to intervene when learning goals are not being achieved and the group appears to be wandering in unproductive directions. He functions as the conscience of the group, in pointing out when goals are being displaced. This does not foreclose the possibility of digression, but the group should be aware when it is digressing, and there should be a consensus that the digression will create information useful to the members.

Another function of the orientation meeting is to sensitize students to common pitfalls in groups meetings. Among these are long and aimless anecdotal remarks, dominance by too few students, lack of preparation and subsequent commentary of limited utility, and pairing, where two students carry on a prolonged dialogue that may be of limited interest to the rest of the members. Explicit attention to these problems can help create the conditions for learning. Some seminars are terminated by a process review, in which the group examines the quality of its own learning and discusses ways of reducing the level of imperfection in the learning process.

Students are not to discuss specific names of staff in their commentary, and they also must respect the confidentiality of remarks made by student colleagues. Since there is interaction among the host agencies, the data discussed at the table must remain confidential and be utilized only for learning purposes. Under no circumstance should the data be used to undermine the position of another agency.

Evaluation processes are also discussed in the orientation session. The intern director distributes a variety of forms and discusses the purposes underlying their use. The Evaluation of Intern form is to be filled out by the supervisor of the host agency. The possession of the evaluation form can sensitize interns to criteria utilized in the assessment of competence. Host agency supervisors are encouraged

to discuss the evaluation report with the student at the conclusion of the internship. It is most useful for the intern to possess feedback on his own performance. Such information can be used by the intern to construct an agenda for professional development.

Students are also given an Evaluation of Host Agency form. These forms are filled out at the completion of the internship, compiled in a notebook, and utilized as a data base for assisting future students in making internship choices. Students also evaluate the quality of the academic program, and this information is utilized to modify program content in subsequent semesters.

The orientation session also provides an opportunity to discuss mechanisms of communication with the host agency. In addition to sustaining communication through phone calls, the intern director makes site visits to the host agency. Face-to-face contact is extremely important in sustaining quality relationships. Such visits serve many specific purposes: they demonstrate to the host agency that the university is concerned about the quality of internship experiences; they encourage agency staff to spend additional time and effort in strengthening the experience; they provide an opportunity to monitor the quality of the experience and, if necessary, make specific recommendations for change; they are a mechanism for feedback bearing upon the quality of student performance; and they serve as an opportunity to explore future internship possibilities. While phone calls are helpful, there is some reluctance to be completely candid over the phone. Such visits also place the intern director in a better position to counsel students on problems and to advise future interns about learning opportunities in different agencies.

An additional activity discussed in the orientation session relates to a special seminar with host agency supervisors. Supervisors are invited to the American University campus once a semester to participate in a discussion session on some issue in public administration. Students initiate the session with a short presentation of idea bearing upon a problem in organizational dynamics. Host agency supervisors respond by discussing their perspectives on the problem. Consistent with the theory of internships, this seminar provides an opportunity for an integration of perspective between academics and practitioners. The meeting is premised on the assumption that a sharing of perspective can enhance problemsolving capabilities in both communities. These meetings also provide an occasion to recognize the important contributions that host agency supervisors have made to the professional education of these students. In this way the



orientation session introduces the model for field experience education and lays the foundation for the progression of events that ensue during the semester.

Student Role

The most important actor in this professional network is the student. The internship is designed to generate professional growth and intellectual development. Student learning is very much dependent on deep involvement in all aspects of the internship. If the primary actor is refuctant to pursue learning in a systematic and orderly way, the theory underlying internship study will become invalid. The faculty member must exert leadership in setting the academic tone, but the ultimate success of any internship falls upon the student.

In addition to academic tasks, the student must pursue job-related tasks with a high measure of motivation. A precondition for learning is comprehensive involvement in organizational processes. The student should also be sensitive to professional feedback, so that measures can be taken to improve performance during the internship semester. Similarly, Murphy points out that the student who adopts "the 'Mr. Big from the Front Office' role can expect closed doors and little support from his supervisor and co-workers" (1973, p. 45). The use of discretion can go a long way in increasing the value of an internship.

The Host Agency

Most host agencies approach internship training with a high measure of integrity. In selected circumstances the intern might experience considerable frustration because of suboptimal performance on the part of the host agency. Some indicators of performance breakdown are:

- 1. No planning with respect to job function.
- 2. Giving interns menial work tasks where there is little opportunity to develop professional skills or to exercise initiative.
- 3. Structuring work life in such a way that the intern is isolated from meetings and the central processes of decisionmaking.
 - 4. Allocation of job tasks that are vague and unclear.
- 5. Giving interns work responsibility that is of marginal concern to the organization.
- 6. Placing the student in a politically tenuous situation by structuring work activities that are controversial within the organization.
- 7. Planning work activities that are insufficient to keep the intern busy.



- 8. Inadequate supervision of the student or general apathy toward the internship program.
- 9. No attempt to evaluate performance and communicate information to the intern.
- 10. Structuring work tasks so narrowly that there is no opportunity to exercise judgment and initiative.

A comprehensive evaluation of the New York City Urban Corps internship program (Nash and Nixon 1967) demonstrated that these factors were important influences on job satisfaction. For example, of those students who were very satisfied with their internship, 81 percent reported their work assignment was interesting, and 92 percent reported the internship gave them an opportunity to exercise initiative. In addition, the report found that the "higher the academic level required for the job, and the more challenging it seemed to be, the more likely was the job to be rated very good" (Nash and Nixon 1967, 4.2). Interns also appreciated an "open agency" where they could sit in on meetings and where the staff was receptive to new ideas.

In examining factors that can improve internships, it is important to consider the policy of top management. If there is no incentive for staff to invest in the training of interns, the probabilities are high that host agency personnel will expend time and energy in other Therefore, it is important that the internship program receive strong sanction, explicit recognition, and the expenditure of some resources. Robert Sigmon (1973a, p. 18) suggests that organizations develop a year-round program with a ratio of "one full-time, year-round, budgeted service-learning internship to 50 full-time employees." He also calls for explicit organization policy with respect to task identification, selection and training of interns, intern supervision, liaison with college and university communities, establishment of criteria for the allocation of job responsibilities, and procedures for review of organizational effectiveness on the quality of their involvement in internship training (Ibid., p. 18). In addition, Murphy (1973, p. 7) emphasizes the importance of giving the intern legitimacy within the organization to facilitate his integration into the professional network. Top management can also sanction special internship seminars to add focus and breadth to the experience.

In addition to sanction from executive levels, it is important that the staff supervisor execute particular tasks to strengthen the quality of the internship. Among the most important responsibilities are the following:



- 1. Setting a tone of open discussion and cooperation with the intern (Murphy 1973, p. 38).
- 2. Providing project alternatives or assisting the intern in conceptualizing a worthwhile project (Sigmon 1972a, p. 7).
- 3. Providing a comprehensive orientation to the culture of the organization, its structure, and its relation to the external environment.
- 4. Provision of technical support with respect to those skills the intern needs to develop.
- 5. Facilitate intern exposure to various aspects of organizational life; that is, special seminars, business meetings, hearings, project reviews, etc.
- 6. Periodic evaluation of intern progress, with open and frank discussion of strengths and weaknesses. (A HUD Handbook, p. 25).
- 7. Helping the intern understand how informal and formal organizations work (*Ibid.*, p. 12).
- 8. Apprise the intern of organization norms, work expectations, and modes of communication.
 - 9. Sustain open communication with the academic supervisor.
- 10. Remain sensitive to problems and needs of the intern, and provide assistance at appropriate junctures.

The successful execution of these tasks will increase productivity and strengthen the educational value of the internship.

While internships can be of considerable value to host agencies, there are also some potential costs. Some host agencies have not experienced a high level of success with interns. Given the fact that some internships are of relatively short duration, the student may not be able to build the necessary expertise to make contributions to the organization (Thomas, interview, March 15, 1973).

The problem might be hedged somewhat by a systematic and comprehensive orientation and training period, and by allocating job responsibilities that do not require past experience. If the nature of the work is such, however, that an intern could not reasonably make contributions in the allotted time frame, it would be unwise for the organization to participate in the program. Of course, productivity is also a function of the right intern-organization match. A carefully designed screening procedure would increase the probability that the intern could contribute meaningfully to the on-going work of the organization.

A related problem bears upon the number of hours the intern is expected to work each week. If the prescribed number of hours is



small (perhaps eight hours), the agency may experience difficulty in fitting the student into the work flow. The intern may not be available at crucial junctures in organizational life and staff will be reluctant to rely on the intern to carry out crucial tasks. In cases where the number of hours is too short, universities should be encouraged to rethink their requirements. It appears to me that twenty hours per week is a reasonable minimum standard for most circumstances. The student would be working at least a portion of three days, and would either be present when a problem arose or would reenter the agency soon after.

Host agencies are often unaware of the learning objectives and academic rationale of university-sponsored internship programs. Under such circumstances, even a well intentioned host agency supervisor will not possess guidelines for structuring the internship experience. This problem might be a result of communication breakdown, or the fact that the academic supervisor did not examine the question of objectives. It would be most useful if host agency personnel possessed broad guidelines for structuring the internship experience.

Another problem bears upon recognition for host agency supervisors. Many supervisors exert considerable time and energy but may not be recognized for their efforts ("Community-Based Education ...," 1973). One form of recognition draws upon the structure of rewards within the organization; that is, salary increments, job advancement, and general recognition from higher management. Yet, the university bears a responsibility as well. The case could be made that the supervisor is functioning as an instructor and therefore should receive financial remuneration for these efforts. Public school teachers who supervise student instructors often receive compensation, such as a cash payment or the opportunity to take a course at a reduced tuition rate. The appropriateness of such a policy repends not only on the capacity of the university to bear the cost, but also on whether professional skills are being caught in the supervisory activity. While remuneration is commonly used in teacher training, this is rarely the case in other forms of internships.

Regardless of policy bearing upon remuneration, the faculty supervisor, as a representative of the university, should certainly express gratitude to members of the host agency who played important roles in forming the experience. The university might distribute certificates of appreciation to host agency supervisors. These individuals often take deep interest in students and provide experiences that constitute a basis for continued professional development.



Further Issues in Internship Training

Who Should Participate?

One of the central policy questions in any internship bears upon the criteria for entry. Some have suggested that intelligence as measured by I.Q., academic achievement tests, and grades should not be relied upon too heavily. Hennessy contends that energy, stability, tact, curiosity, motivation, and commitment are equally important criteria for the selection of interns (Hennessy 1970, pp. 21, 110; see, also Murphy 1973, p. 11).

One's productivity often hinges upon interpersonal competence, defined as the ability to work effectively with others. So, the use of more narrow academic criteria would exclude many individuals who could function very effectively in an organization. Most students approach ir ternship training with a high level of motivation and commitment. The problem, according to Goldman (1970, n.p.n.) is to "weed out the inevitable few who perceive the program as an opportunity to escape a fourth course. . . ."

Host agencies should accept interns only when they are relatively confident that the student possesses the requisite traits to participate fully in the important activities of the office. Accepting an intern out of a general feeling of obligation to the faculty director or the university is not in anyone's interest. A requisite condition for a successful internship is that all actors are enthusiastic about the relationship and approach the experience in a positive and constructive way.

Where Should Students Intern?

What type of agencies produce the best experience for interns? While there is no hard and fast rule, it is useful to consider particular factors in developing a placement strategy. Some intern directors have emphasized the value of placing students in new offices. According to Murphy, "valuable experience can be obtained in a new program where precedents are lacking, where most of the participants are learning themselves, and where assignments are less procedurally structured" (Murphy 1978, p. 14). New agencies provide broader opportunities for the exercise of initiative. Valuable learning opportunities are also found in small offices, where the demands on the professional staff are high and where resource constraints preclude



functional specialization. In this situation, the student is more likely to be treated as a member of the professional staff with important job responsibilities. Hennessy (1970, pp. 111-112) develops the following hypotheses on the relationship of office character to the quality of internships:

- 1. The larger the office of assignment (in number of personnel), the less likely the intern is to get comprehensive experience and the more likely his work is to be research.
- 2. The higher the office (from say, small city mayor to President), the less likely the intern is to get comprehensive experience and the more likely his work is to be research.
- 3. The more internally complex the office (either in subject jurisdiction or in the use of specialized labor), the less likely the intern is to get comprehensive experience and the more likely his work is to be research.
- 4. Internships in large offices, and high offices, and specialized offices, require the interns to learn more by listening and reading.
- 5. Conversely, smaller, lower, and less specialized offices provide more comprehensive experiences in which the interns are often expected to deal with the whole range of the business of the officers with whom they serve.

These hypotheses constitute probability statements and are not intended to suggest that large offices cannot provide quality experiences. To the contrary, a well handled intern in a large office could benefit immensely from the extensive resources at hand. The most important factor is the commitment of the host agency to provide a rich experience for the intern.

Compensation Practices

Policies dealing with compensation practices are heavily debated in colleges and universities. Should students receive compensation for the internship experience? While some contend that they should not, the thrust of opinion among intern directors is strongly in favor of some form of payment.

Compensation can take several forms. Interns could be paid directly by the agency for services rendered. Urban Corps interns earned between \$600 and \$1,000 in New York City (Nash and Nixon 1967, 3.1). In some cases, the intern receives remuneration to cover basic expenses such as tuition, transportation, and food. Some universities have received grants for their programs and are in a position to pay students for their work efforts. Another alternative is university-host



agency cost sharing to pay intern salaries. An additional mechanism to assist students financially is the provision of a differential tuition rate for field experience education.

While some schools permit some form of fiscal relief, others permit no compensation in any form, and the tuition structure is identical for on-campus and off-campus study. There are a wide range of philosophies on this question and university practices reflect this diversity of opinion.

Those who oppose payment frequently argue that it would reduce the control of the university over the internship. If payment were utilized for services rendered, the faculty supervisor would have reduced leverage in his interventions with the host agency. Some contend that since the student is being paid by the agency, job tasks would be allocated on the singular criterion of agency need without consideration of the potential learning value to the student.

Another concern of those who oppose paid internships is that students who are regularly employed may also request academic credit for their work experience. Academicians differ about the appropriateness of granting credit for experiences not sponsored by the university. It is my view that college credit should be granted only when there exists a university program of learning in conjunction with the work experience.

Another source of opposition to paid internships stems from administrative problems. If the university adopted the position that all interns should be paid by the host agency, it would then be incumbent upon the faculty supervisor to expend time and energy in finding agencies willing to engage in a paid internship arrangement. For a faculty member with regular academic duties, this constitutes a responsibility that entails considerable time. It is fairly easy to find good nonpaying internships; however, the available pool of paid internships is much more limited. The constraints on a faculty member's time might limit his ability to successfully execute this task. Furthermore, paid internships might serve to discriminate against agencies with more limited resources. It is just such agencies that are in dire need of interns and can often provide very rich experiences. Another argument against paid internships is that it would create inequalities, in that students might become unhappy as a result of salary differentials.

The logic used to support compensation practices is based upon a different predictive theory. Some contend that when an office commits financial resources, they will make a stronger effort to utilize interns in significant ways. If an agency has a genuine stake in the perform-

ance of an intern, they are more likely to structure activities that are genuinely important to the organization. Robert W. Wilson, the Manager of Fairfax County, Virginia, has written that "when interns are free, there is a tendency for local government officials to be less attentive and less demanding. Internship supervisors [host agency] will treat the program with more intensity if they know that the salary is being paid from local appropriations" (Wilson 1973, n.p.n.). Similarly, Murphy has written that "payment also serves to reduce participation by administrators who do not have the intention of using the intern effectively, but who would accept an internship because it didn't cost them anything" (1973, p. 11). A central assumption underlying this position is that competency is really tested and developed where an intern is given important responsibilities and where expectations are high. If host agency supervisors are reluctant to challenge an unpaid intern, both the intern and the agency lose important benefits.

One consequence of a nonpayment program is that it discriminates against less affluent students. These students need to secure some type of part-time employment in order to meet basic living expenses and to finance education. Most of their time outside of regular academic responsibilities is spent on a part-time job and these students would not have time to participate in a nonpaying internship. Consequently, a paid program could discriminate against the less affluent agencies, while a nonpaying program could discriminate against the less affluent students.

A Solomon-like compromise between these two positions would be to permit paid and unpaid internships. This would serve to increase the pool of internship possibilities. Students could compete for whatever paid internships were available in the community. Those in need of financial assistance could compete for the paid internships, or they might receive a stipend from the university to subsidize their experience. The less affluent community organizations could then participate readily in the program.

On the problem of salary differentials, Murphy has suggested that the host agency forward payment to the university. The university would then divide payment evenly among the students (Murphy 1973, p. 11). Theoretically, this would provide opportunities for all students to receive compensation, and agencies who pay very little or no salary would also have the benefit of interns. This alternative, however, constitutes an interagency subsidy and might be opposed on these grounds.

The issue of university control is premised on a fear of student exploitation. However, most academic directors have found that host agency staff approach their responsibilities in good faith and are anxious to provide a meaningful experience for the student. In cases where internships are utilized as a recruitment mechanism, the agency has every incentive to provide a good experience. Host agencies are also quite receptive to university interventions and, with rare exceptions, problems can be worked out in an equitable manner. A good academic director can head off many problems by specifying program goals in the initial stages of the internship.

One of the more compelling rationales for encouraging compensation practices was expressed by Mr. Donald Eberly of the National Service Secretariat. Charles Kuhlman quotes him as saying that "since the intern represents an incremental addition to the productive capacity at the command of the agency, it should be willing to pay for at least a fraction of the market value of that capacity" (Kuhlman 1971, p. 10). While it might not be feasible to limit the program to only paid internships, compensation should be encouraged to the extent that fiscal resources exist for this purpose.

Evaluating Intern Performance

Grading practices for internships have also been the source of considerable discussion. The central issue is whether interns should receive letter grades or be evaluated on a pass-fail basis. There are some good arguments on both sides of this question. Those who support letter grades contend that they have a motivating influence on students. While some universities have attempted to downplay grades as a mechanism to promote learning, the fact remains that many students have been conditioned to respond to this form of incentive. In addition, students contend that passifail grades place them at a competitive disadvantage in seeking entrance to graduate schools. Grade-point average is one criterion in entrance standards and students seek every opportunity to strengthen their position. Some universities also place constraints on the use of pass-fail courses. For example, they may not permit courses graded on a pass-fail basis to be counted toward the student's major field. Under such circumstances, students would naturally press for letter grades in internship

Those who oppose letter grades often contend that it is difficult to evaluate intern performance with any level of precision. There are broad differences in job descriptions, degree of responsibility, requisite skills, etc. In addition, performance criteria differ and host agency

supervisors will approach evaluation with a different set of principles. How does the faculty member consider all these factors as well as the quality of performance in the academic segment of the program? In response to this argument, some faculty supervisors believe that a letter grade can reasonably be utilized if there is good communication with the student and the office. Others are quite perplexed about how one reasonably integrates work evaluations with academic performance to derive a grade for the course. While some intern directors are confident of their ability to translate work evaluations into grades, others have concluded that there is no effective or reasonable way to execute this task.

There are some alternative ways of dealing with the problem. Some intern directors grade pass-fail but specify rather demanding criteria for receiving a "pass" grade. These criteria would apply to performance on the job and in the classroom. Other directors have adopted the alternative of giving a letter grade based only on performance in relation to academic tasks such as seminar participation, papers, and exams. Instead of a grade, the rewards for job performance are knowledge, pay, personal growth, recommendations, and sometimes employment.

There are distinct reward systems for both aspects of the program (interview with Charles Kuhlman and Dennis Smith, Center for Urban Affairs, Indiana University, 1973). Under some circumstances, one could use both pass-fail and a letter grade. If, for example, the university grants six hours of credit for the internship, one might grant three hours of pass-fail credit for the work experience and three hours of credit using letter grades for the academic component of the program. In this way faculty supervisors might have more confidence in their judgments, since the evaluation symbols would more closely reflect the level and quality of information for evaluation.

Whatever alternative is adopted, the intern should receive feedback from both the academic and host agency supervisors. Evaluation should be something more than a mechanism to preserve qualitative judgments. These judgments should function primarily to assist the student in building competency.



Conclusions

Internships and other forms of field experience education are now becoming a standard form of teaching. The concept of a classroom without walls is achieving general acceptance in academic circles. New programs, however, generate new problems and academia is questioning how it is to operate under these seemingly boundless conditions. There are no conventional answers and the range of educational approaches are as broad as one's creative instinct. When a good program becomes a reality, the subsequent danger is that the design characteristics will become hardened. It is incumbent upon academic directors to experiment, to evaluate, and to utilize this data in modifying program design. Internship programs should adapt to new realities in both the academic and practitioner worlds. Interships are a challenging and dynamic form of pedagogy, and the investment in time and effort can generate widespread benefits to faculty, students, and to the larger community.



Bibliography

The ERIC Clearinghouse on Higher Education abstracts and indexes the current research literature on higher education for publication in the National Institute of Education's monthly Research in Education (RIE). Readers who wish to order ERIC documents cited in the bibliography should write to the ERIC Document Reproduction Service, Post Office Drawer 0, Bethesda, Maryland 20014. When ordering, please specify the ERIC document (ED) number. Unless otherwise noted, documents are available in both microfiche (MF) and hard/photocopy (HC). All microfiche titles cost \$0.65; hard/photocopy reproduction costs \$3.29 per 100 pages. All orders must be in writing and payment must accompany orders of less than \$10.00.

- The American Society for Public Administration and the National Association of Schools of Public Affairs and Administration. "The Policy Internship Program." Washington, D. C.: The Association, 1973.
- Buckle, Leonard G. and Buckle, Suzanne Thomas. "Field Experience and Pre-Professional Counseling." In Let the Entire Community Become Our University, edited by Philip C. Ritterbush. Washington, D. C.: Acropolis Books, Ltd., 1973.
- The Carnegie Commission on Higher Education, Less Time, More Options. New York: McGraw-Hill Book Company, January 1971.
- "Community-Based Education—Its Problems and Potential," paper presented at the Volunteer Research Conference of the Health and Welfare Council and The Consortium of Universities, April 20, 1973, sponsored by the Sociology Department of The George Washington University, Washington, D. C.
- Davis, James R. "Cooperative Education: Prospects and Pitfalls." Journal of Higehr Education 42 (February 1971): 139-146.
- Dawson, Dudley. "Community and Junior College Programs." In Handbook of Cooperative Education, edited by Asa S. Knowles & Associates. New York: :Jossey-Bass, Inc., Publishers, 1971.
- Dewey, John. Logic: The Theory of Inquiry. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, 1938.
- Duley, John. "The Use of Critical Incident Writing and Values Clarification Processes for Student Self-Evaluation in Field Experience Education." An Occasional Paper for the Society for Field



- Experience Education presented January 1973 at Michigan State University, East Lansing, Michigan.
- Goldman, Lawrence P. "Studying the Cities: Undergraduates Take Municipal Jobs as Part of a Woodrow Wilson School Program." Princeton Alumni Weekly (February 17, 1970).
- Haider, Donald H. "The Columbia University Experience with the APSA State and Local Government Internship Program." Prepared for delivery at the American Political Science Association Conference on Political Science and State and Local Government, October 26-29, 1972, Biloxi, Mississippi.
- Hedlund, Ronald D. "Reflections on Political Internships." PS 6 (Winter 1973): 19-25.
- Heiss, Richard L. "Evaluation Report III." Community Service Institute, Kendall College, Evanston, Illinois. August 1971.
- Hennessy, Bernard C. Political Internships: Theory, Practice, Evaluation. University Park: Pennsylvania State University, Administrative Committee on Research, 1970.
- Hirschfield, Robert S. and Adler, Norman M. "Internships in Politics: The CUNY Experience." PS 6 (Winter 1973): 13-18.
- A HUD Handbook: Urban Intern Training. Washington, D. C.: Department of Housing and Urban Development. ED 065 716, MF-\$0.65; HC-\$3.29.
- Humphrey, Hubert. Quoted in Congressional Record \$ 4874. March 15, 1973.
- Kiel, David H. "Student Learning through Community Involvement." Raleigh: Southern Regional Education Board and North Carolina Internship Office, July 1972.
- Knowles, Asa S. and Associates. *Handbook of Cooperative Education*. New York: Jossey-Bass, Inc., Publishers, 1971.
- Kramer, Martin. "The Concept of Experiential Learning." In Founding Conference Report, edited by Society for Field Experience Education. Hofstra University, Hempstead, New York, November 10-12, 1972.
- Kuhlman, Charles. "Internship Concepts and Applications: A Report to the Center for Urban Affairs." Bloomington: Indiana University, November 1971.
- and Smith, Dennis. Bloomington: Indiana University. Institute for Urban Studies. Interview held February 3, 1973.
- Levine, Charles H. "Maximizing the Benefits of Summer Work Programs for Graduate Students." Public Personnel Review (October 1968): 231-233.

- Logue, Frank. "Who Administers? Access to Leadership Positions in the Administration of Government." Written for the Division of National Affairs of the Ford Foundation. June 30, 1972. Supplement includes goals, funding sources, selection criteria, and program summaries of 72 leadership-development fellowship and internship programs. Identifies the community of interest in this area.
- Meyer, Peter and Petry, Sherry L. "Off-Campus Education: An Inquiry." Report of a conference on "Off-Campus Experiential Education," held October 1971 at St. Petersburg, Florida. Atlanta: Southern Regional Education Board, Student Intern Project, 1972. HE 004 391 (RIE Feb. 74).
- Murphy, Thomas P. Government Management Internships and Executive Development. Lexington, Mass.: D. C. Heath & Company, March 1973.
- ——. College Park: Maryland University, Center for Urban Affairs. Interview held March 15, 1973.
- Nash, George and Nixon, Julian H. Response to Challenge: The New York City Urban Corps. New York: Columbia University, Bureau of Applied Social Research, May 1967. ED 031 135. MF-\$0.65; HC-\$9.87.
- National Association of County Officials. "Albemarle's Intern Program: One County that Didn't Punt." Paper presented at a conference at Dallas, Texas, March 2, 1973.
- National Center for Public Service Internship Programs. Fact Sheet. National Center for Public Service Internship Programs, 1140 Connecticut Avenue, N.W., Suite 201, Washington, D. C. 20036.
- Report on Higher Education (Frank Newman, Chairman). U. S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, March 1971. ED 049 718. MF-\$0.65; HC-\$6.58.
- Ritterbush, Philip C., ed. Let the Entire Community Become Our University. Washington, D. C.: Acropolis Books, Ltd., 1973.
- Sexton, Robert F. "The National Center for Public Service Internships." In Let the Entire Community Become Our University, edited by Philip C. Ritterbush. Washington, D. C.: Acropolis Books, Ltd., 1973.
- Sigmon, Robert L. "A Notebook on Service-Learning." Raleigh: North Carolina Internship Office, October 1972a. ED 070 395. MF-\$0.65; HC-\$3.29.
- _____. "Options for Public Service Internships." Public Service Internship News, December 1972b.



- "Service-Learning Internships' How to Realize Possibilities and Make the Most of Them." Raleigh: North Carolina Internship Office, April 1971.
- Society for Field Experience Education. Founding Conference Report. Report of a conference held at Hofstra University, Hempstead, New York, November 10-12, 1972.
- Southern Regional Education Board. Resource Development Project: Manpower for Public Service. Atlanta, Georgia, 1970.
- Thomas, Stanley B. Washington, D. C.: Department of Health, Education and Welfare, Deputy Assistant Secretary for Youth and Student Affairs. Interview held March 15, 1973.
- de Tocqueville, Alexis. *Democracy in America*. 1840. Reprint. New York: Vintage Books, 1945. Book II, p. 114.
- Tyler, Ralph W. "Values and Objectives." In Handbook of Cooperative Education, edited by Asa S. Knowles and Associates. New York: Jossey-Bass, Inc., Publishers, 1971.
- Wilson, Robert W. Public Service Internship News, July-August, 1973. National Center for Public Service Internship Programs, Washington, D. C.
- Wise, Sidney. "The Administration of an Internship Program." Paper prepared for the American Political Science Association Internship Evaluation Conference held in Las Croabas, Puerto Rico on April 15-19, 1965.

